RECEIVED

Oct 01 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County

Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAKAVIS GREEN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000846

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GARY H. JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial court err in refusing to dismiss the traffic related charges because of the standardless sweep allowed by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2120 (1993) which is an unconstitutionally vague statute that provides contradictory guidance to both the public and the police on which is the lawful lane of travel to turn into while making a left-hand turn?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Jakavis Green was charged in Beaufort County as a habitual traffic offender and for driving under suspension. R. 86-89. He was tried before the Honorable Brooks Goldsmith and a jury on July 25, 2022. R. 1. Appellant was represented by Taylor Diggs and Juan Tolley, while Samantha Molina appeared on behalf of the state. The jury returned guilty verdicts on both counts, and Judge Goldsmith sealed appellant's sentence.¹ R. 74, ll. 13 -21.

At an appearance before the Honorable Carmen Mullen on May 19, 2023, appellant's sealed sentence was presented. R. 81. Judge Goldsmith sentenced appellant to four years in prison for being a habitual traffic offender and ninety days for driving under suspension, third offense. R. 83, ll. 4 – 24 (May 19, 2023).

This appeal follows.

¹ Appellant was present at the call of the case and during jury selection but did not reappear for the presentation of evidence and was tried in his absence. R. 25, l. 5 – 27, l. 5.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On May 13, 2018, Sergeant Justin Greninger of the Beauford County Sheriff's Office initiated a traffic stop of appellant's vehicle for an "improper" left-hand turn based upon the lane which appellant turned his vehicle onto. R. 39, ll. 7 – 22. Greninger admitted the sole basis for the stop was this allegedly improper turn. R. 44, ll. 11 – 22. Counsel for appellant moved to dismiss due to a violation of the Fourth Amendment prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizure, arguing the statutory basis asserted by Greninger was "nonsensical." R. 13, ll. 9 – 17; R. 94-113 R. 123-146. Judge Goldsmith denied the motion, ruling the statute was not ambiguous and required turning into the most immediate left lane on the new direction of travel. R. 19, ll. 6 – 12.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Violation of motor vehicle codes provides an officer reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop.” State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 108, 747 S.E.2d 453, 457 (2013); *see also* Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106 (1977). “The concept of reasonable suspicion, like probable cause, is not ‘readily or even usefully, reduced to a neat set of legal rules.’” United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 7 (1989) (quoting Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213, 232 (1983)). “The test whether reasonable suspicion exists is an objective assessment of the circumstances; the officer’s subjective motivations are irrelevant.” Provet, 405 S.C. at 108, 747 S.E.2d at 457. The court’s review must “consider ‘the totality of the circumstances—the whole picture.’” Sokolow, 490 U.S. at 8.

However, a void-for-vagueness statute may not serve as the basis for a lawful Terry stop. “As generally stated, the void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.” Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983). “Where the legislature fails to provide such minimal guidelines, a criminal statute may permit ‘a standardless sweep [that] allows policemen, prosecutors, and juries to pursue their personal predilections.’” Id., 461 U.S. at 358. “In addition, this Court and the United States Supreme Court have recognized that a more stringent test for vagueness applies to criminal statutes because the consequences of imprecision in such cases can be more severe.” Planned Parenthood S. Atl. v. State, 438 S.C. 188, 245–46, 882 S.E.2d 770, 801 (2023).

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in refusing to dismiss the traffic related charges because of the standardless sweep allowed by S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2120 (1993) which is an unconstitutionally vague statute that provides contradictory guidance to both the public and the police on which is the lawful lane of travel to turn into while making a left-hand turn.

The statute used by Greninger to stop appellant is unconstitutionally vague. S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2120 (1993) provides:

The driver of a vehicle intending to turn left shall approach the turn in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the direction of travel of such vehicle. *Whenever practicable the left turn shall be made to the left of the center of the intersection so as to leave the intersection or other location in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the same direction as the vehicle on the roadway being entered.* (emphasis added).

In the present case, Greninger testified that about appellant's alleged illegal left turn:

Q. And what was the basis for your traffic stop?

A. Along Arrow Road, there was a vehicle making a left-hand turn onto Palmetto Bay Road. And during that time, the vehicle turned directly into lane 2 instead of turning into lane 1.

R. 39, ll. 18 – 22.

There was no other alleged traffic violation involved:

Q. On this night, May 13th, you conducted the traffic stop around 11:30 p.m.

A. I believe so.

Q. Okay. It was nighttime, right?

A. Yes, it was dark.

Q. And there weren't that many cars on the road?

A. There were some vehicles on the road, yes.

Q. Okay. But you didn't notice Mr. Green's car speeding?

A. No.

Q. Was it swerving?

A. No.

R. 44, ll. 11 – 22.

Under Greninger's interpretation of the statute, a driver completing a left-hand turn must turn into the farthest left-hand lane on the new roadway allowing the right lane to be available for other traffic heading in the same direction. This was the argument presented by the state in response to the motion to dismiss.² Appellant would concede Greninger's interpretation as argued by the state below was potentially a valid interpretation of the statutory language since the statute is vague and uncertain as to which lane was proper. Under the statute's wording, it is equally reasonable to assume the statute mandates the driver must leave the left-hand lane on the "roadway being entered" free for other drivers, necessitating a turn into the right-hand lane (as appellant did in this case). R. 39, ll. 18 – 22. Much like it is impossible for a person to be in two places at the same time, it is impossible for a driver to be both in compliance and in violation of the law by performing the same act at the same time.

Appellant's counsel filed a detailed written motion concerning the validity of the traffic stop before trial. R. 94-113, R. 123-146. Counsel for appellant argued that "statement [in the statute] is just nonsensical" and was not clear "what lane of traffic a driver turning left should turn

²Appellant would note from the description provided by Greninger in his testimony ("the vehicle turned directly into lane 2 instead of turning into lane 1") we are left to speculate as to whether or not the left lane or the right lane was "lane 1" though the state argued below that one can "infer" that the "driver intending to make a left turn must turn into" the far-left lane. R. 119; R. 39, ll. 18 – 22.

into.” R. 13, ll. 18 – 21. Counsel for appellant also argued that the added language “whenever practical” further undermined the meaning of the statute. R. 13, l. 22 – 14, l. 4.

It's our position that this -- Mr. Green did not transgress -- his driving, nor his vehicle violated any traffic infractions that night, and we, therefore, believe that the State would be unable to establish that, you know, his driving or anything in regard to the vehicle itself broke any traffic laws, which would make there be no probable cause for the traffic stop.

R. 14. ll. 5 – 12.

Appellant has found no case from South Carolina addressing this problem. However, in addressing a virtually identical statute, the Supreme Court of Georgia found it constitutionally vague.

Although a criminal statute must be read according to the natural and obvious import of its language, *see Foster v. State*, 273 Ga. 555(1), 544 S.E.2d 153 (2001), our analysis above establishes that the language in OCGA § 40–6–120(a)(2) can be read as setting forth two directly contradictory ways for executing a left-hand turn onto a multi-lane roadway. Because of the language in the statute, both methods are equally plausible. The law is well established that a statute violates due process if it is so vague that persons of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application.

McNair v. State, 678 S.E.2d 69, 71 (Ga. 2009). The Court in McNair found virtually identical statutory language confusing, allowing a driver, the public, and the police, little true guidance as to which lane to turn into, while clearly defining from which lane to begin the turn.

In reviewing the correct way to interpret Georgia’s version of the statute, the Georgia Supreme Court noted “[t]he first interpretation is that a driver who wants to make a left turn onto a roadway with multiple lanes must make the turn in a manner that leaves the intersection or other extreme left-hand lane location lawfully available, i.e., open or clear, to traffic moving in the same direction on the roadway the driver has just entered.” McNair, 678 S.E.2d at 70. This would

require a driver to leave the extreme left-hand lane “free” for vehicles traveling in the same “new” direction, dictating a turn into the right-hand lane. This was the manner appellant turned in the instant case.

The Georgia Supreme Court did not stop at this single, logical interpretation. It noted “the second interpretation of OCGA § 40-6-120(a)(2) is that a driver who wants to make a left turn onto a roadway with multiple lanes must make the turn so that, when the driver departs from or ‘leaves’ the intersection or other location, the turning vehicle is itself located in the lane farthest to the left that is lawfully available to traffic moving in that same direction.” McNair, 678 S.E.2d at 71. This “logical interpretation” was asserted by the state below and adopted by the trial court in the instant case. R. 19, ll. 6 – 15.

A comparison of Georgia statute examined in McNair and South Carolina’s version show them to be almost identical in language. Ga. Code Ann. § 40-6-120(a)(2) (2009) provided the following:

The driver of a vehicle intending to turn left shall approach the turn in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the direction of travel of such vehicle. Whenever *practicable*, the left turn shall be made to the left of the center of the intersection *and so as to* leave the intersection or other location in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the same direction as *such* vehicle on the roadway being entered (differences noted in italics).

In comparison, S.C. Code 56-5-2120(b) (1993) contains the following language:

The driver of a vehicle intending to turn left shall approach the turn in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the direction of travel of such vehicle. Whenever *practicable* the left turn shall be made to the left of the center of the intersection *so as to* leave the intersection or other location in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the same direction as *the* vehicle on the roadway being entered (differences noted with italics).

As to which lane of the “new road” a driver turns into was most important to leave free for vehicles moving in the same “new” direction, the Supreme Court of Georgia acknowledged contradictory rules of the road. For example, Georgia statutes require vehicles to be “driven ‘in the right-hand lane then available for traffic’ when they are ‘proceeding at less than the normal speed of traffic,’ a category that would include most vehicles that have just executed a left turn.” McNair, 678 S.E.2d at 71. South Carolina provides similar guidance to drivers, requiring “any vehicle proceeding at less than the normal speed of traffic at the time and place and under the conditions then existing shall be driven in the right-hand lane then available for traffic or as close as practicable to the right-hand curb or edge of the roadway, except when overtaking and passing another vehicle proceeding in the same direction or when preparing for a left turn at an intersection or into a private road or driveway.” S.C. Code § 56-5-1810(4)(b) (1976 as amended). A driver completing a left-hand turn will often be driving at less than the normal speed for the roadway as they complete the turn. Such a driver would be required by S.C. Code § 56-5-1810(4)(b) to be in the right-hand lane.

In response to McNair, the Georgia legislature revised the law concerning left-hand turns. Under current Georgia law, the driver of a vehicle intending to turn at an intersection shall do so as follows:

(2) Left turn. (A) As used in this paragraph, the term “extreme left-hand lane” means the lane furthest to the left that is lawfully available to traffic moving in the same direction as the turning vehicle. In the event of multiple lanes, the second extreme left-hand lane shall be the lane to the right of the extreme left-hand lane that is lawfully available to traffic moving in the same direction as the turning vehicle. The third extreme left-hand lane shall be the lane to the right of the second extreme left-hand lane and so forth.

(B) The driver of a vehicle intending to turn left shall approach the turn in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the direction of travel of the turning vehicle. Whenever

practicable, the left turn shall be made to the left of the center of the intersection and so as to exit the intersection or other location in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the same direction as the turning vehicle on the roadway being entered.

Ga. Code Ann. § 40-6-120 (West). South Carolina's left-turn statute has remained unchanged and unconstitutionally vague.

As written, S.C. Code § 56-5-2120(b) (1993) is void for vagueness. As held by the Georgia Supreme Court in McNair, either lane can be read as the proper lane to turn into upon completing a left-hand turn. This creates unfettered discretion on the part of law enforcement to pick and choose which drivers will be pulled over for an alleged violation, since every left turn by every motorist both violates and is in compliance with the ambiguous language used in the statute. This unfettered discretion of the police to stop every driver on a violation of a statute that provides no clear direction for compliance in effect cast a very large net "not to give the courts the power to pick and choose but to increase the arsenal of the police." Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156, 165 (1972).

Appellant argued the statute was unconstitutionally vague and nonsensical before the trial judge. R. 13, l. 1 – 14, l. 12; R. 94-113, R. 123-146. "As generally stated, the void-for-vagueness doctrine requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement." Lawson, 461 U.S. at 357. Here, the South Carolina legislature has failed "to provide such minimal guidelines" and this vague statute permitted "a standardless sweep [that] allows policemen, prosecutors, and juries to pursue their personal predilections." Id., 461 U.S. at 358.

The trial court committed an error of law in finding S.C. Code § 56-5-2120(b) (1993) unambiguous. The traffic stop of appellant, based solely upon an alleged violation of this void-for-vagueness statute, was a violation of appellant's Fourth Amendment rights prohibiting unreasonable searches and seizures. The traffic stop was illegal, and all evidence seized as a result of the stop should have been suppressed as fruits of the poisonous tree. *See United States v. Calandra*, 414 U.S. 338, 348 (1974) (“The exclusionary rule ‘is a judicially created remedy designed to safeguard Fourth Amendment rights generally through its deterrent effect, rather than a personal constitutional right of the party aggrieved.’”); *Elkins v. United States*, 364 U.S. 206, 217 (1960) (“The remedy of exclusion ‘compel[s] respect for the constitutional guaranty in the only effectively available way—by removing the incentive to disregard it.’”). Since the charges against appellant were limited to his status as a licensed driver based on information garnered from an illegal stop, proper application of the law mandated dismissal of the traffic charges by the trial court.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing arguments, appellant's conviction should be reversed based upon the improper initial traffic stop of appellant's vehicle and the case remanded to the Court of General sessions for proper disposition.



Gary H. Johnson
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT