RECEIVED

Oct 02 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Beaufort County
Honorable Brooks P. Goldsmith and Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judges
Appellate Case No. 2023-000846

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JAKAVIS GREEN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ISAAC McDUFFIE STONE, III
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1880
Bluffton, SC 29910
(843) 779-8477

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge correctly denied Appellant's motion to suppress all the evidence found during the course of the traffic stop because the deputy's belief Appellant committed a traffic offense by making a left turn into the far right-hand lane instead of the available left-hand lane of the roadway being entered was either a correct interpretation of South Carolina law or an objectively reasonable one and, therefore, the stop was supported by reasonable suspicion and constitutionally proper.

Relevant Facts

Prior to and at the outset of trial, defense counsel moved to suppress all the evidence uncovered in Appellant's case on the basis the traffic stop purportedly constituted a constitutionally unreasonable seizure. (R. pp. 11-12; p. 94; pp. 98-99). As support for the motion, defense counsel contended Section 56-5-2120 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, which is the statutory provision the deputy believed Appellant had violated by the manner in which he made his left turn, was "just nonsensical" and did not in her view dictate any specific lane into which a driver making a left turn was required to turn. (R. p. 13; p. 99). Furthermore, defense counsel asserted practicability was also a factor that had to be considered if the trial judge did, in fact, believe the statute regulated proper lane usage when making a left turn. (R. pp. 13-14; p. 100). Based on all that, defense counsel argued Appellant did not violate any traffic laws on the night of the incident and, thus, there was supposedly no probable cause for the traffic stop, which she maintained was necessary for the stop to be constitutionally proper. (R. p. 14; p. 18; pp. 98-99).

Conversely, the solicitor noted Sergeant Greninger observed Appellant make a left turn into the far right-hand lane as opposed to the left-hand lane, which was closest lane lawfully available to him. (R. p. 15). Based on that, the solicitor argued the deputy had reasonable suspicion to believe a traffic violation had occurred, which justified the traffic stop in Appellant's case. (R. p. 15).

After listening to the arguments of counsel, the trial judge noted—correctly—the issue in Appellant’s case was not whether he was guilty of an illegal turn but was whether reasonable suspicion existed for the traffic stop. (R. p. 19). Upon considering that matter, the trial judge ruled Section 56-5-2120 was not ambiguous and the deputy possessed reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop of Appellant’s vehicle based on what he had observed. (R. p. 19). Resultantly, the trial judge denied defense counsel’s suppression motion, and Appellant was ultimately convicted as indicted of driving under suspension and a habitual traffic offender violation. (R. p. 19; p. 73).

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). When reviewing a ruling on a constitutional search-and-seizure issue on appeal, the appellate court will “review the trial court’s factual findings for any evidentiary support” and treat “the ultimate legal conclusion” as “a question of law subject to de novo review.” State v. Frasier, 437 S.C. 625, 633, 879 S.E.2d 762, 766 (2022). Meanwhile, when reviewing a challenge to the constitutionality of a statute, an appellate court has a “very limited” scope of review. State v. Harrison, 402 S.C. 288, 292, 741 S.E.2d 727, 729 (2013). Pursuant to that limited scope of review, all statutes are presumed to be constitutional and, if possible, will be construed in such a way to render them valid. State v. Neuman, 384 S.C. 395, 402, 683 S.E.2d 268, 271 (2009); see Powell v. Hargrove, 136 S.C. 345, 350, 134 S.E. 380, 382 (1926) (“[An appellate court] must sustain the validity of the legislative enactment, if it is possible to do so by any reasonable construction of the Constitution, even though the Court might differ with the Legislature as to the propriety of the legislation.”). Importantly, a statute “will not be declared unconstitutional unless its repugnance to the constitution is clear and

beyond a reasonable doubt[.]” and the party challenging the validity of the statute has the heavy burden of proving its unconstitutionality. In re Care & Treatment of Lasure, 379 S.C. 144, 147, 666 S.E.2d 228, 229 (2008); see State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 58, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001) (“Appellants have the burden of proving the statute unconstitutional.”).

Analysis

Both the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 10 of the South Carolina Constitution provide protection to our citizens against unreasonable searches and seizures. See U.S. Const. amend. IV (“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated[.]”); S.C. Const. art. I, § 10 (“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures and unreasonable invasions of privacy shall not be violated[.]”). Significantly, based on their plain wording, the touchstone of those constitutional provisions is reasonableness. Florida v. Jimeno, 500 U.S. 248, 250 (1991). As a result, *only* unreasonable searches and seizures are impermissible. State v. Foster, 269 S.C. 373, 378, 237 S.E.2d 589, 591 (1977); see also Heien v. North Carolina, 574 U.S. 54, 60 (2014) (“To be reasonable is not to be perfect[.]”).

For constitutional purposes, a traffic stop of a vehicle is reasonable per se when either probable cause exists to believe a traffic violation has occurred *or* reasonable suspicion exists to believe the occupants of the vehicle are involved in criminal activity.⁴ See Knight v. State, 284

⁴ Unlike in some jurisdictions, traffic offenses in South Carolina constitute misdemeanor *criminal* offenses as opposed to civil traffic infractions. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-730 (“It is unlawful and, unless otherwise declared in [the Uniform Act Regulating Traffic on Highways] with respect to particular offenses, it is a misdemeanor for any person to do any act forbidden or to fail to perform any act required in this chapter.”); cf. Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 808 (1996) (explaining “the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have

S.C. 138, 141, 325 S.E.2d 535, 537 (1985) (“[A] police officer may stop an automobile and briefly detain its occupants, even without probable cause to arrest, if he has a reasonable suspicion that the occupants are involved in criminal activity.”); State v. Williams, 351 S.C. 591, 598, 571 S.E.2d 703, 707 (Ct. App. 2002) (“Where probable cause exists to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, the decision to stop the automobile is reasonable per se.”). Meanwhile, the subjective motivations of the law enforcement officer initiating the stop are irrelevant. State v. Moore, 415 S.C. 245, 252, 781 S.E.2d 897, 901 (2016); see State v. Provet, 405 S.C. 101, 108, 747 S.E.2d 453, 457 (2013) (“The test whether reasonable suspicion exists is an objective assessment of the circumstances; the officer’s subjective motivations are irrelevant.”); see also Horton v. California, 496 U.S. 128, 138 (1990) (“[E]venhanded law enforcement is best achieved by the application of objective standards of conduct, rather than standards that depend upon the subjective state of mind of the officer.”).

As to what “reasonable articulable suspicion” has been recognized to mean, it is a flexible standard grounded in common sense and simply requires a showing of “a *minimal* level of objective justification” in order to be satisfied. Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000) (emphasis added); see State v. Lesley, 326 S.C. 641, 644, 486 S.E.2d 276, 277 (Ct. App. 1997) (“The term reasonable suspicion requires a particularized and objective basis that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity” (citation and internal quotations omitted)); see also Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 184, 754 S.E.2d 862, 870 (2014) (“[T]he facts and inferences relied on by the officer must be *articulable*, not necessarily *articulated*.”). Significantly, it “is not a high bar.” United States v. Coker, 648 F. App’x 541, 544 (6th Cir. 2016) (citing Navarette v. California, 572 U.S. 393 (2014)); see Kaley v. United States, 571 U.S. 320, 338 (2014)

probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred” in a case in which the traffic violations involved were not crimes but, instead, were merely civil violations).

(recognizing even the probable cause standard “is not a high bar”). In fact, due to the nature of that standard, reasonable suspicion can exist even when an officer makes a *reasonable* mistake of fact or law. See Heien, 574 U.S. at 60 (holding reasonable suspicion for a seizure “can rest on a mistaken understanding of the scope of a legal prohibition”); Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S. 177, 185 (1990) (“It is apparent that in order to satisfy the ‘reasonableness’ requirement of the Fourth Amendment, what is generally demanded of the many factual determinations that must regularly be made by agents of the government . . . is not that they always be correct, but that they always be reasonable.”); see also Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160, 176 (1949) (“Because many situations which confront officers in the course of executing their duties are more or less ambiguous, room must be allowed for some mistakes on their part. But the mistakes must be those of reasonable men[.]”).

In the case sub judice, Sergeant Greninger initiated the traffic stop that led to Appellant’s arrest and subsequent convictions based on his belief the left turn he observed Appellant make was unlawful pursuant to the language of Section 56-5-2120, which is our state’s traffic law governing “[r]equired position and method of turning.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2120. As to left turns, that statutory provision instructs:

The driver of a vehicle intending to turn left shall approach the turn in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the direction of travel of such vehicle. Whenever practicable the left turn shall be made to the left of the center of the intersection so as to leave the intersection or other location in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the same direction as the vehicle on the roadway being entered.

Id. Notably, although *other* portions of its language have been interpreted in the past, no South Carolina appellate court decision has yet been issued specifically addressing the meaning of the statute’s current language concerning how left turns must be made. Cf. Muhleck v. Tamanini,

271 S.C. 57, 60, 244 S.E.2d 535, 537 (1978) (“The testimony of the investigating highway patrolman regarding skidmarks made by appellant’s motorcycle coupled with the location of the vehicles after the wreck creates an inference that instead of making a 90 degree left hand turn as required by [an older slightly-different version of Section 56-5-2120], respondent ‘cut the corner.’ ”); West v. Sowell, 237 S.C. 641, 647, 118 S.E.2d 692, 695 (1961) (concluding the language of a precursor to Section 56-5-2120 made it unlawful to fail “to approach an intersection for a right turn as close as practical to the right hand edge of the roadway”).

Now, on appeal, Appellant—while heavily focusing on the supposed unconstitutionality of Section 56-5-2120, which he was *not* convicted of violating—contends the trial judge reversibly erred by failing to both suppress the evidence discovered as a result of the traffic stop conducted in his case and dismiss his charges. More specifically, Appellant maintains his federal constitutional rights were violated by the stop because Section 56-5-2120 was purportedly nonsensical and unconstitutionally vague. Importantly though, Appellant correctly concedes no decisions have yet been issued in South Carolina interpreting that particular statutory provision in the context of how left turns must be made in our state. Beyond that, Appellant further candidly “concede[s]” the deputy’s interpretation of the statute “was potentially a valid interpretation” while merely contending a contrary interpretation would have been “equally *reasonable*.” (App. Br. p. 6) (emphasis added). Nevertheless, since Section 56-5-2120 was—in his view—void due to its supposed unconstitutional vagueness, Appellant argues his constitutional rights were violated based on the stop conducted pursuant to it, all the evidence discovered as a result of that stop had to be suppressed, and his driving under suspension and habitual traffic offender violation charges had to be dismissed. For several reasons and particularly in light of his accurate concessions, Appellant is wrong.

Initially, Appellant’s position is wrong because the deputy was, in fact, completely correct in believing Appellant violated Section 56-5-2120 by making a left turn into the far right-hand lane as opposed to the closer and available left-hand lane based on the language employed in that statutory provision. Looking to the statute’s current language, it requires a driver turning left onto a South Carolina roadway to “leave”—or, phrased differently, exit—“the intersection or other location[.]” such as the yellow-lined center turn lanes present on *many* of our state’s roadways, from which the left turn is being made “in the extreme left-hand lane” on the roadway being entered that is lawfully available to traffic moving in the driver’s direction.⁵ S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2120(b). Here, based on Sergeant Greninger’s testimony, Appellant did *not* leave the intersection in the closest left-hand lane but, instead, bypassed that lane and drove into the far right-hand lane. Thus, based on the plain language of the statute, Appellant committed a traffic violation by making a left turn but failing to exit the intersection in the correct “extreme left-hand lane” of the roadway he was entering. *Id.*; see People v. Vaughn, 334 P.3d 226, 229 (Colo. 2014) (concluding Colorado’s traffic code makes it a violation for a driver making a left turn to turn into the far right-hand lane instead of the closest left-hand lane and, thus, holding the officer possessed reasonable suspicion for a traffic stop after observing Vaughn commit a violation by conducting a left turn in just such a manner); State v. Rainier, 357 P.3d 867, 871 (Idaho Ct. App. 2015) (“The plain language of the statute, we determine, directs that a driver turn *from* the

⁵ Notably, the manner in which Section 56-5-2120 was previously written supports a conclusion its language was and is intended to identify the lane that must be entered when *exiting* an intersection. See Muhleck, 271 S.C. at 60, 244 S.E.2d at 536-537 (quoting an earlier version of Section 56-5-2120 as follows: “At any intersection where traffic is permitted to move in both directions on each roadway entering the intersection, an approach for a left turn shall be made in that portion of the right half of the roadway nearest the center line thereof and by passing to the right of such center line where it enters the intersection, and after entering the intersection the left turn shall be made so as to leave the intersection to the right of the center line of the roadway being entered, and whenever practicable the left turn shall be made in that portion of the intersection to the left of the center of the intersection[.]”).

extreme left-hand lane *to* the extreme left-hand lane when practicable. Accordingly, the officer had reasonable, articulable suspicion pursuant to the statute that Rainier committed a traffic violation [by making a left turn into the far right-hand lane instead of the closest left-hand lane available], and the district court did not err by denying Rainier’s motion to suppress on this ground.”); see also Colo. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 42-4-901(1)(b) (“The driver of a vehicle intending to turn left shall approach the turn in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the direction of travel of such vehicle. Whenever practicable, the left turn shall be made to the left of the center of the intersection so as to leave the intersection or other location in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the same direction as such vehicle on the roadway being entered.”); Idaho Code Ann. § 49-644(2) (“The driver of a vehicle intending to turn left shall approach the turn in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the direction of travel of the vehicle. Whenever practicable the left turn shall be made to the left of the center of the intersection and so as to leave the intersection or other location in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving in the same direction on the highway being entered.”); cf. State v. Walker, 435 P.3d 1184, ___ (Kan. Ct. App. 2019) (unpublished table decision) (“[Trooper] Hill’s interpretation that the law requires a driver to ‘to turn from the left to the left’ comes from a different approach. Hill reads ‘leave the intersection’ to mean exit or depart from and takes ‘in the extreme left-hand lane lawfully available to traffic moving the same direction as such vehicle’ to mean ‘into the extreme left-hand lane *that is* lawfully available to traffic moving in the same direction as *the turning vehicle.*’ ”). And, since Appellant committed a traffic violation, the traffic stop was obviously supported by reasonable suspicion and, therefore, was constitutionally proper. See Provet, 405 S.C. at 108, 747 S.E.2d at 457

(“Violation of motor vehicle codes provides an officer reasonable suspicion to initiate a traffic stop.”).

It is important to note, though, that Appellant was *not* convicted of violating Section 56-5-2120. Instead, Appellant was convicted of driving under suspension along with a habitual traffic offender violation. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-460 (prohibiting a person from driving on a public highway in South Carolina when the person’s license has been suspended or revoked); S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-1100 (prohibiting a person from operating a motor vehicle in South Carolina after being deemed a habitual traffic offender and “while the decision of the Department of Motor Vehicles prohibiting the operation is in effect”). That distinction is a significant one because the issue currently being raised centers on a challenge to the constitutional reasonableness of the seizure that occurred in Appellant’s case and not to any particular offenses for which Appellant was—or was not—convicted. Compare Heien, 574 U.S. at 67 (“Heien is not appealing a brake-light ticket; he is appealing a cocaine-trafficking conviction as to which there is no asserted mistake of fact or law.”), with McNair v. State, 678 S.E.2d 69, 69-70 (Ga. 2009) (addressing a constitutional challenge to a traffic statute on appeal following McNair’s conviction for violating the challenged statute). And, as previously explained, a seizure can be constitutionally reasonable *even if* an officer was mistaken about whether particular conduct constitutes a violation of law so long as the officer’s mistake was objectively reasonable. See Heien, 574 U.S. at 66 (instructing if it was reasonable for an officer to suspect a defendant’s conduct was illegal, “there was no violation of the Fourth Amendment in the first place”).

With that in mind, Section 56-5-2120’s language is, at an absolute minimum, *arguably* susceptible to the statutory interpretation Sergeant Greninger gave to it, and that language has

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